1959

Howard B. Cahoon v. Robert P. Felton : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was brought in two causes of action. The first is for alienation of affections and the second for criminal conversation. The case was tried twice. At the first trial, the jury returned a verdict of no cause of action on the first cause of action and \$20,000 compensatory and \$5,000 punitive damages on the second cause of action. The defendant moved for a new trial on the second cause of action and the trial court in a Memorandum Decision found

that the verdict on the second cause of action was excessive in the amount of \$15,000 general damages and \$4,000 punitive damages and ordered that plaintiff remit the said \$19,000 or submit to a new trial on the second cause of action. The plaintiff elected to submit to a new trial. Defendant objected to a new trial on the first cause of action for the reason that the plaintiff had not moved for a new trial on that cause of action and did so for the first time in a motion dated the 5th day of September, 1958, whereas the Court had signed a Memorandum Decision on the 20th day of May, 1958 granting a new trial on the second cause of action only and judgment was made and entered on the 17th day of April, 1958. Plaintiff's counsel attempted to avoid the necessity of making a motion for a new trial on the April judgment by causing a new judgment, obtained *ex parte*, to be entered dated the 5th day of September, 1958. After hearing these motions, the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson, before whom the first trial was held, ordered a new trial on both causes of action.

The case was tried for the second time before the Honorable A. H. Ellett. At the conclusion of the evidence, the Court submitted a series of special verdicts to the jury. In response to these special verdicts, the jurors found that the defendant alienated the affections of the plaintiff's "wife" and had criminal conversation with her. They assessed \$2,500 general damages on the first cause of action for alienation of affections and assessed \$25,000 general damages plus \$12,000 punitive damages for the criminal conversation. They also made a special finding that the plaintiff would have spent \$17,000 supporting his "wife"

if his "wife" had never known Pelton. The question then naturally arose as to what all these special findings meant. Plaintiff claimed that his total verdict should have been \$2,500 plus \$25,000 plus \$12,000 or a total of \$39,500. The defendant claimed that the jurors intended that the \$17,000 should be deducted from the \$39,500, leaving a verdict of \$22,500. The Court entered judgment for \$26,000, his theory as indicated by this Memorandum Decision being that the jury intended the \$17,000 as an offset, but that their intention could not be given full effect because an offset was only proper against the alienation of affections action and not against the action for criminal conversation. The Court further found that the punitive damages were excessive by \$11,000. The trial court denied motions made and argued by defendant for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial.

From these two judgments and from the rulings of the Court, defendant takes this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The evidence introduced at both trials is substantially the same. Therefore, the facts will be considered as though the evidence was introduced in one case.

The plaintiff was at the time of the trials unmarried, having been divorced by his former wife, Dorothy Cahoon, also known as Dorothy Williams, and Dorothy Shaw, hereinafter referred to as Mrs. Shaw, in Nevada on December 4, 1956, in an action in which she, as plaintiff, alleged, proved and was adjudged to have sustained extreme mental

cruelty (R. 453-494). Plaintiff's said wife married Gerald F. Shaw, a Las Vegas taxi operator, in December, 1957 after a seven-month acquaintance and presently resides with Shaw in the Cahoon family home in Las Vegas, Nevada (R. 625).

The plaintiff at the time of the second trial was 43 years of age. He first met Mrs. Shaw when she was working at the Hotel Utah as a waitress (R. 416). He went with her about a year and a half and "married" her on June 28, 1947 [The record incorrectly states 1957] (R. 416). At the time of their "marriage" Dorothy had two children by a prior marriage, Roxanne, then age 7, and Sylvia, then age 5 (R. 416-417). It also appears that at the time the plaintiff "married" Mrs. Shaw, she had not obtained a final decree of divorce. Exhibit D-2 shows that she obtained a final decree of divorce in California from Mark H. Williams on the 7th day of June, 1948, almost one year after her "marriage" to plaintiff. The affidavit for a final decree shows that an interlocutory decree was entered as of the 13th day of March, 1946 (Exhibit D-2). Exhibit D-2 shows that the final decree was entered *nunc pro tunc* as of June 23, 1948. The only marriage performed between plaintiff and his "wife" was the marriage performed on the 28th day of June, 1948, almost a year prior to the time application was made for a final decree (R. 480).

Plaintiff and Mrs. Shaw lived the first two years of their "marriage" in Salt Lake City, Utah (R. 447). During this time they had one child. While in Salt Lake City, they worked together in the Jiffy Dog Business. They started this business in their home and later opened an office on

State Street (R. 460). According to the plaintiff this was a period of happiness. They "went on a number of trips * * * both were active in the Variety Club in Salt Lake City" and his "wife" "seemed to love me and enjoy my company, and we both had a lot of fun together" (R. 459). Mrs. Shaw, however, testified to a different feeling which existed during this period. She stated that from the very beginning there was no affection in their "marriage." She remembered on numerous occasions on 19th East when "we moved into our home up there, I remember many nights that he's, I mean, being a newlywed, I expected, you know, the usual love and it just wasn't there. I would get out of bed and slam the door and go out in the front room and sleep. I mean, he was very cold and indifferent to me" (R. 628). She further testified that during this period and while on a trip to Montana, her husband had struck her in the nose causing it to bleed. While they were in Salt Lake City nothing at all interfered with their "marriage" other than their own conduct (R. 481). After living two years in Salt Lake City they moved to Las Vegas where plaintiff operated two drive-in theatres. While there, plaintiff and Mrs. Shaw met defendant at a Kiwanian convention. This was in November of 1954 (R. 418).

At all times material to the case the plaintiff and Mrs. Shaw were domiciled and actually lived in the State of Nevada.

In the summer and early fall of 1955, Mrs. Shaw spent two or three weeks on a vacation in Salt Lake City (R. 473). Early in 1956, plaintiff for the first time observed a change in her attitude toward him (R. 473). She seemed

pleased when he left town and when they were ready to leave on a planned trip to New Orleans she urged him to go alone which resulted in the trip being cancelled (R. 474). During this period of growing indifference, he saw Pelton in the bar at the Riviera Hotel in Las Vegas. He observed that Pelton "ducked his head down and turned away from me." At that time plaintiff testified he had not suspected that anything was wrong (R. 475).

Mrs. Shaw testified, as herein indicated, that from the beginning there was little, if any, affection existing between herself and her husband. When asked specifically whether or not defendant had alienated her affections from her husband, she testified "I can't see how it would be possible * * * there certainly weren't any wifely affections or husband so I don't see—I have never been able to understand how affections can be alienated if there are no affections" (R. 627).

She explained some of the incidents which alienated whatever affection she had for her husband. The first difficulty arose at the very beginning of their "married" life and it was because of plaintiff's lack of sexual interest in her (R. 628). This indifference persisted throughout their "married" life, so much so that she suggested that he see a doctor which he finally did. The doctor apparently suggested some pills which he did take "for a week. Then he perished the thought. And that would be the end of it" (R. 631).

She testified "during our whole married life, there were times that there was no intercourse, sometimes from—as long as six to nine months" (R. 631).

When Mrs. Shaw's sister, Virginia, related to her an incident which occurred when the plaintiff made a "pass" at her while drunk in a tourist cabin in California she was only a little amazed. She testified "I was a little amazed." "I would say that Howard is naturally a cold, frigid man and that no woman would interest him" (R. 641).

This lack of sexual interest and affection caused Mrs. Shaw to consult a lawyer in 1955. This lawyer was a mutual friend. He called the plaintiff to his office and talked to the plaintiff about the lack of affection which plaintiff had for Mrs. Shaw (R. 237). This all occurred before Pelton had any association with Mrs. Shaw.

Mrs. Shaw also testified to other incidents which caused her to lose whatever affection she had for her husband. She spoke of these to Mrs. Thiriot, the wife of her husband's friend, and complained to her that her husband had been very rude in her presence. She said "I mean, he was rude, as much as his belching and making those strange noises and then laughing like a child * * *." This was prior to the time that she met Mr. Pelton.

Her husband's conduct in staying out all night or until late unusual hours of the morning playing panguini also was a source of annoyance to Mrs. Shaw. She said "Well, for a length, quite a long length of time, he got a streak; and he would on numerous occasions stay out and play panguini all night and then he would come home and sleep most of the day" (R. 633).

The most serious difficulty which arose between plaintiff and his "wife" commenced long prior to the time she met the defendant. It was an incident which concerned their last child. On this occasion, while Mrs. Shaw was pregnant, she testified that her husband accused her of being pregnant with a child not his. Her exact words in this respect were as follows: "Well, there was an occasion when I became pregnant with Brit, who is four years old now, and at the time I found it out, from the Doctor, Howard was in Los Angeles and when he came home, I told him. And he said, 'Well.' He said 'that isn't my baby.' And I said 'Well, if it isn't yours, I don't know whose it is.' And he said 'Well,'—he didn't say anything for a couple of days. Then he said, 'Well, if this isn't my baby,' he says 'I want you to have an abortion' " (R. 629).

The defendant admitted that a conversation of this nature had occurred. However, he testified that he desired her to have an abortion because of their different blood types and not because the child was not his. He admitted, however, that he made the accusation to his "wife" that the child was not his but that he did it simply because he was mad (R. 206). The accusation of paternity occurred prior to the time of Pelton.

The plaintiff, for the most part, did not deny the accusations made by Mrs. Shaw against him which she claimed had caused her to lose any affection she may have had. He thought that his sexual interest in her was normal and that there was a deep and abiding affection existing between them.

The testimony of plaintiff's stepdaughter, Roxanne Freeman, was introduced in evidence. This testimony, which was undisputed showed that plaintiff and Mrs. Shaw were having difficulties before Pelton and that Mrs. Shaw was out with other men. This evidence is as follows:

"Q. Do you know of any other man or men that your mother went out with prior to the time that your mother and father were divorced other than the defendant, Pelton?

"A. Never, their names. There are times she did go out dancing with a girl that used to live with us, that used to take care of us.

"Q. With men?

"A. They would go out on Boulder Highway or over to the Saddle Club to dance" (R. 529, 530).

* * * *

"Q. How many such occasions were there when your mother and Mrs. Dunklin were out dancing with other men?

"A. Oh usually, maybe, when mother would get off work out at the theatre or may be on Saturday nights. Usually when Sylvia or one of us was there to watch the children.

"Q. Would you say once or twice a week?

"A. Maybe once a week.

"Q. Over a period of months?

"A. Yes, uh huh.

"Q. And it was during the year 1954 and 1955, would you say?

"A. Yes.

* * * *

"Q. But you didn't know the names of any of the men?

"A. No.

"Q. Did any of the men come to the house?

"A. No. There was a man that brought her home one night from one of the bars or clubs some place.

"Q. What time did he bring her home?

"A. It was about 6:00 in the morning, about 5:00 or 6:00 in the morning. Many times Dad would be out playing cards" (R. 530-531).

The testimony of Mrs. Shaw's sister, Virginia Holt, is also enlightening:

"Q. And also prior to the time she met Mr. Pelton, did you know something of your sister's attitude and her conduct, Mrs. Holt?

"A. Yes.

"Q. And prior to that time do you know of your own knowledge if she was going out with other men?

"A. Yes, she was.

"Q. And how did you know that, Mrs. Holt?

"A. Well, I have seen her.

"Q. Other men when she was drinking?

"A. Yes.

"Q. Has your sister talked to you about those occasions?

"A. Yes (R. 662-663).

"Q. Now, how many occasions, Mrs. Holt, did you see your sister out at this time?

"A. Several.

"Q. And that was prior to the time of 1956, was it not?

"A. Yes" (R. 663).

The evidence concerning Mrs. Shaw and Pelton is scanty. The testimony relating to their conduct shows that they corresponded together, that they went out together, both in Salt Lake and in Nevada, but mostly in Nevada. They boated together along with plaintiff's stepdaughter and her boy friend and apparently went swimming together. The defendant came to the home of plaintiff at least on one occasion when plaintiff was not present and was served a highball and according to the testimony of plaintiff's stepdaughter, kissed Mrs. Shaw on that occasion. This was denied by the defendant. The defendant and Mrs. Shaw were seen on one occasion alone together in a motel room (R. 525).

Plaintiff first learned that his "wife" had been seeing the defendant Pelton at a time when plaintiff was in Las Vegas, Nevada and plaintiff testified that it was in Las Vegas, Nevada that *his feelings were wounded*, and where he observed a change in his "wife's" attitude towards him (R. 491-492).

The only direct evidence of criminal conversation came from the testimony of plaintiff's brother, Richard Cahoon. He stated that he had a conversation with the defendant at the defendant's place of business sometime in December, 1956 in which the following was stated: "I said, 'Well, what about the time Roxanne said that you slept with Dorothy there in Howard's home?' And he emphatically denied it. He said that the times he slept with Dorothy was either in his motel in Las Vegas or in Salt Lake City where the children weren't around * * *" (R. 541). This con-

versation was categorically denied by the defendant (R. 604).

It is also significant that Roxanne, the plaintiff's step-daughter, did not testify to the allegations made in Richard Cahoon's question.

While the plaintiff's brother, Richard Cahoon, made several efforts to converse with the defendant, the plaintiff himself never, on any occasion, ever spoke to Pelton or asked him any questions relative to his alleged conduct with Mrs. Shaw but simply filed suit for alienation of affections and criminal conversation.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE ALLEGED MARRIAGE BETWEEN PLAINTIFF AND MRS. SHAW PROVIDES NO BASIS FOR A CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST DEFENDANT.

POINT II.

AN ACTION FOR CRIMINAL CONVERSATION IS NOT PERMITTED UNDER THE UTAH LAW.

POINT III.

THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE ISSUE OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES AND IN PERMITTING EVIDENCE OF

WEALTH TO BE INTRODUCED ON THE
ISSUE OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES.

POINT IV.

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A NEW
TRIAL ON THE FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION.

POINT V.

THE COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL
ERROR AT THE SECOND TRIAL IN GIVING
INSTRUCTION NO. 11 (R. 124-125).

POINT VI.

PLAINTIFF IS BARRED FROM BRINGING
AN ACTION ARISING OUT OF HIS MAR-
RIAGE BY REASON OF A PRIOR DIVORCE
OBTAINED BY MRS. SHAW BASED ON HIS
MISCONDUCT.

POINT VII.

THE COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL
ERROR IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFEN-
DANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 22
(R. 114) AND IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NO.
13 (R. 126) AND NO. 15 (R. 128).

POINT VIII.

THE COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL
ERROR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE
LIFE EXPECTANCY TABLES, INSTRUCTION

NO. 7, FIRST TRIAL (R. 21), INSTRUCTION NO. 15, SECOND TRIAL (R. 128) AND IN PERMITTING COUNSEL TO ARGUE FROM THE SAME TO THE JURY.

POINT IX.

THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN THE SECOND TRIAL IN ALLOWING AN OFFSET OF \$17,000.00 AGAINST ONLY THE ALIENATION OF AFFECTIONS JUDGMENT.

POINT X.

THE COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN PERMITTING COUNSEL FOR THE DEFENDANT TO READ TO THE JURORS QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS FROM DEPOSITIONS IN WHICH THE WITNESSES CLAIMED THEIR PRIVILEGE AGAINST SELF INCRIMINATION.

POINT XI.

THE COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NOS. 24, 25 AND 26.

POINT XII.

THE COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 20.

POINT XIII.

THE COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL
ERROR IN ITS INSTRUCTION NO. 12.

POINT XIV.

THE COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL
ERROR IN ITS INSTRUCTION NO. 13.

POINT XV.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING
TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL ON THE GROUNDS
THAT THE VERDICT WAS GROSSLY EX-
CESSIVE AND UNWARRANTED BY THE
EVIDENCE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE ALLEGED MARRIAGE B E T W E E N
PLAINTIFF AND MRS. SHAW PROVIDES NO
BASIS FOR A CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST
DEFENDANT.

The Legislature of the State of Utah has provided that
certain marriages are prohibited and void. Section 30-1-2,
Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides as follows:

“The following marriages are prohibited and
declared void:

* * * *

“(2) When there is a husband or wife living from whom the person marrying has not been divorced.

* * * *

“(7) Between a divorced person and any person other than the one from whom the divorce was secured until the divorce decree becomes absolute, if an appeal is taken, until after the affirmance of the decree.”

The alleged marriage performed between the plaintiff and Mrs. Shaw occurred on June 27, 1947. At that time Mrs. Shaw was not finally divorced from her husband, Mark H. Williams.

Exhibit D-2 shows that she obtained a final decree of divorce from Mark H. Williams on the 7th day of June, 1948, almost a year after her marriage to the plaintiff. The affidavit for a final decree was not even made until after Mrs. Shaw “married” the plaintiff in Salt Lake City. The fact that the decree was entered *nunc pro tunc* as of June 23, 1948 five days before the marriage performed between the Plaintiff and Mrs. Shaw does not render the marriage valid. The only marriage performed between the plaintiff and Mrs. Shaw was the marriage of June 28, 1948.

If the marriage of the plaintiff and Mrs. Shaw was void and unlawful at its inception, as provided by statutes of the State of Utah, it could not subsequently be rendered valid. Void marriages are not marriages at all and do not even require an annulment proceeding to determine their nullity. In *Sanders v. Industrial Commission*, 64 Utah 372, 230 Pac. 1026, followed in *Jenkins v. Jenkins*, 107 Utah 239, 153 P. 2d 262 and in *Re Dalton's Estate*, 109 Utah 503,

167 P. 2d 690, the Court held that where a woman remarried within six months after entry of interlocutory divorce decree the marriage was void *ab initio* and no rights accrued to either party to the marriage by reason thereof.

In the *Jenkins* case *supra*, the Court said:

“In view of the fact that the plaintiff had only an interlocutory decree of divorce from her prior marriage and said decree had not yet become final, she was still married at the time of her purported marriage to defendant and the trial court correctly held that the purported marriage was void *ab initio*.”

The Court further said:

“The continued cohabitation as man and wife after the said interlocutory decree became final would not validate the void marriage. See *Sanders v. Industrial Commission*, *supra*. Since the purported marriage was void, there was no grounds nor necessity for divorce. However, it is proper for the good of society and the peace of mind of the persons concerned that void marriages be so declared by a decree of the court. Such a declaration could properly have been obtained by a suit for an annulment.”

The California courts have likewise held that a marriage performed before a final decree is entered is void. The California statute which is applicable is as follows:

CC 132:

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