1959

# Howard B. Cahoon v. Robert P. Felton : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

“It has generally been held in this country that punitive or exemplary damages are recoverable in an action for criminal conversation.”

27 Am. Jur., Sec. 552, page 153, states, “The law presumes malice from criminal conversation, in an action therefor.”

### POINT III

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING A NEW TRIAL ON THE FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION.

#### A. PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WAS TIMELY.

Judgment was entered after the first trial by the clerk in favor of the plaintiff for the sum of \$25,000 (R. 70). The court in its memorandum decision, dated May 20, 1958, ordered a remittitur or a new trial (R. 74, 75). Plaintiff refused to remit and the court on June 3, 1958, entered its order granting defendant a new trial. An examination of the judgment on the verdict dated April 17, 1958, shows that a judgment of no cause of action was not entered on the first cause of action for alienation of affections. On September 5, 1958, plaintiff, upon discovering that such a judgment had not been entered on the first cause of action, prepared such a judgment and with the approval of the court had it signed by the clerk. Immediately following the signing and the filing of that judgment, plaintiff filed a motion for a new trial on the cause of action for alienation of affections. That motion was argued on September 9, 1958, and an order granting a new trial on the first cause of action was entered on September 11, 1958. (R. 81). The Utah Supreme Court has considered two cases involving a "judgment on verdict" that was exactly the same as the April 17, 1958, judgment that was entered in this case. Those cases are *Kourbetis v. National Copper Bank*, 264 P. 724, 71 U. 232 and *Ellinwood v. Bennion*, 276 P. 159, 73 U. 563. The judgments in the two cases cited contained recitals of the jury verdict, but when they

got to the "wherefore clause" of the judgment or the "decretal" part they did not order adjudge and decree and settle the rights between the parties. The court in both the Kourbetis and Ellinwood case held the judgments were not final judgments from which an appeal would lie. 49 C.J.S., Sec. 71, page 190, states the rule as follows,

"While under code practice a recital of facts in a equitable decree is usual and proper, only the decretal part of the decree determines the rights of the parties and constitutes the final judgment in the case."

There having been no final judgment entered on April 17, 1958, and none having been entered until September 5, 1958, plaintiff's motion for new trial on the first cause of action for alienation of affections having been filed on September 5, 1958, immediately following the entry of the judgment was timely. See Rule 54(a) and 59(b) URCP.

**B. THE EFFECT OF THE COURTS ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL WAS TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL ON BOTH CAUSES OF ACTION.**

In any event the effect of the order of the trial court contained in its memorandum decision of May 20, 1958, and the order dated June 3, 1958, granting the new trial was to grant a new trial as to the entire case. See 66 C.J.S., Sec. 210, page 541 where the rule is stated:

"An order for a new trial in general terms, not expressly limited to particular issues or parties, opens up the whole case for further pro-

ceedings, even though the ground on which the new trial is based affects a part of the issues only, provided the order for the new trial does not restrict it to those issues and the presumption is against such restrictions.”

See *Cramer v. Bock*, 21 Wash. 2d 13, 149 P. 2d 525, where the court cites 3 Am. Jur., Appeal and Error, Sec. 1228 as follows,

“The right to limit the issues when ordering a new trial should be exercised only when it is clear that no injustice will result from so doing. As much more of the case must be retried as may be necessary in order to afford the parties a fair trial. Generally, it may be said before a partial new trial may properly be granted, it should clearly appear that the issue to be retried is so distinct and separable from the others that a trial of it alone may be had without injustice and without danger of complication with other matters.”

In 66 C.J.S., Sec. 11, page 99, the rule is stated,

“Where there are distinct counts or causes of action and separate findings, there may be a new trial as to a part only of such counts or causes, where this can be done without danger of confusion or prejudice. On the other hand, where the two causes of action stated in the complaint arose out of the same transaction, it is within the discretion of the trial court to grant a new trial on the whole issue \* \* \* and a new trial as to all issues has been required where the verdicts on the several causes of action are inconsistent with one another and the evidence in support of all the causes is substantially similar.

C. THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SHOW THAT  
MRS. CAHOON'S AFFECTIONS WERE ALIENATED  
OUTSIDE THE STATE OF NEVADA.

In so far as the activities of Mr. Pelton and Mrs. Cahoon in the State of Utah are concerned, the evidence shows the following. Mrs. Cahoon was in Salt Lake for three or four weeks in June or July, 1955, (R. 363, 472). Mrs. Cahoon was here in Salt Lake for one week during Christmas 1955 and was here for three or four weeks in June or July of 1956 which was just a month before plaintiff learned of the relationship between defendant and plaintiff's wife. (R. 363, 472, 473). Defendant went horseback riding with Mrs. Cahoon in Evanston, Wyoming, kissed her while she was here in the summer of 1955 and 1956. (R. 341, 342, 357, 592). Defendant took her to the Variety Club in Salt Lake in the summer of 1956 where he was observed with his arms around her, kissing her and having drinks with her. (R. 246, 561). Defendant wrote letters from Salt Lake addressed to Mrs. Cahoon, sent her a bathing suit for her birthday, a valentine card and called her on the telephone from Salt Lake. (R. 334-337, 588). Defendant refused to testify and claimed his privilege against self-incrimination when asked whether or not he had had sexual intercourse with Mrs. Cahoon while she was in Salt Lake in the summer of 1955, in December of 1955 and in the summer of 1956. (R. 342-344, 594). The evidence shows that the last time defendant and Mrs. Cahoon saw each other prior to the time Mrs. Cahoon and the plaintiff separated was while Mrs. Cahoon was here in the summer of 1956. We submit that under the circumstances of this case there is ample

evidence from which the jury could find that the acts that occurred outside the State of Nevada were a substantial factor in alienating the affections of plaintiff's wife.

#### POINT IV

IT WAS NOT ERROR TO GIVE INSTRUCTION NO. 11.  
(R. 124-125).

Defendant's exceptions to Instruction No. 11 are contained on pages 707 and 708 of the record. Defendant did not take exception to the instruction on any ground that is now raised by defendant in his Point No. V as being prejudicial error. Having failed to properly except to the instruction, the defendant cannot now claim it is erroneous. Furthermore an examination of instruction No. 11 as a whole shows the jury could not have been misled by it.

#### POINT V

PLAINTIFF IS NOT BARRED FROM BRINGING THE ACTIONS IN QUESTION BECAUSE OF THE FACT THAT PLAINTIFF'S WIFE OBTAINED THE DIVORCE.

Defendant claims that plaintiff is barred from bringing the actions in question because of the fact that plaintiff's wife obtained the divorce.

Defendant recognizes that the court in the case of *Sadlier v. Knapton*, 5 U. 2d 33, P. 2d 278, has held specifically that the fact that the wife obtains the divorce does not preclude the husband from maintaining an action against a third party for alienation of affections. That case is the law of this State.

## POINT VI

PLAINTIFF WAS ENTITLED TO RECOVER DAMAGES FOR FUTURE OR PERMANENT LOSS OF HIS WIFE'S SERVICES, AFFECTION, CONSORTIUM AND SOCIETY. (SEE DEFENDANT'S POINT VII)

Defendant claims that plaintiff could only recover for loss of services, affection, consortium, companionship and society of his wife down to the time of the divorce. It should be noted that the cases cited by defendant in support of that argument are extremely old cases.

The court in the case of *Wilson v. Oldroyd*, supra, has decided this point and in so doing used the following language,

“No one will gainsay that the task of placing a monetary value upon the affections of a wife is fraught with grave difficulty. The valuation is of course not on a strictly out of pocket basis and cannot be computed solely from contributions of money to be expected, nor the value of domestic services alone. There are other intangible but definite values in the comfort and society, love and companionship, and other privileges attendant upon the estate of marriage for which compensation can be awarded, *not only up to the time of divorce*, but for permanent loss of such conjugal rights.”

The Utah Court cites Restatement of Torts, Sec. 910, page 559 and *Riggs v. Smith*, 52 Idaho 43, 11 P. 2d 358 in support of that holding. The Idaho case states the rule as follows,

“The plaintiff is not limited to a recovery of damages measured by the loss of consortium



down to the date of the commencement of the action, but is entitled to damages measured by the permanent loss of the spouse's aid, comfort and companionship."

See also *Genness v. Simpson*, 78 A. 886, 84 Vt. 127; *Bryant v. Carrier*, 198 S.E. 619, 214 N.C. 191; 42 C.J.S., Sec. 706, page 361.

## POINT VII

IT WAS NOT ERROR FOR THE COURT TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE LIFE EXPECTANCY TABLE NOR TO PERMIT COUNSEL TO ARGUE THE SAME TO THE JURY.

The defendant cites *Johnson v. Richards*, 50 Idaho 150, 294 P. 507, as authority for the argument that the mortality tables are inadmissible. The court in the case of *Fife v. Adair*, 47 P. 2d 145, 173 Okl. 234, in an action by a wife for the alienation of her husband's affections had occasion to consider the same question and in so doing discussed the Idaho case. After quoting that part of the Idaho case which is quoted verbatim in defendant's brief, page 45, the Oklahoma Court said,

"To follow this case would be to hold that the tables are not admissible in any kind of action for the loss of support. The court in the Johnson case says that to so hold would base a presumption upon a presumption. That is, that the marital relation once shown would continue to exist until death and that the love and affection would likewise continue until the death of one of them. This court has held in a number of cases that in an action for damages for the loss of support on account of personal injury the American Mortality Tables are competent evidence for the con-

sideration of the jury along with the other evidence for what ever probative value they may have. *City of Shawnee et al. v. Slankard*, 29 Okl. page 133, 116 P. 803, syllabus: 'The expectation of life of one injured by another's negligence may be shown as a basis for the estimation of damages in a case where the evidence tends to show the injury is permanent, and standard tables of mortality are admissible in evidence upon this question.'

"The loss of support is an element of damage in this case. To hold that the American Tables of Mortality are not admissible for the reason that it would base a presumption upon a presumption would overrule and set aside every case by this court wherein it has been held that such tables are admissible to prove expectation of life where loss of support was an element of damages. In a personal injury case, it would be contended with equal force that you would first have to presume marital relation would continue until death, and the further presumption of continuation of support. *Adair* was not a witness in this case; in determining the question of the amount plaintiff would be entitled to recover for the loss of the support of her husband, certainly the jury would be entitled to know something as to his age and condition of health. A larger sum should be allowed for the loss of a husband who is young and vigorous than an older one whose earning capacity would not be as great on account of his age and condition of health. These tables are not admitted in evidence as absolute guides to control the decision of the jury, but for whatever weight the jury may give them along with the other evidence in the case."

The Utah Supreme Court has held in a number of cases that the mortality tables are admissible. See *Ben-*

*nett v. The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company*, 213 P. 2d 325, 117 U. 57; *Shields v. Utah Light Traction Co.*, 99 U. 307, 105 P. 2d 327; *Schlatter v. McCarthy*, 113 U. 543, 196 P. 2d 968.

In view of the ruling by the Idaho Court in the later case of *Riggs v. Smith*, supra, to the effect that permanent loss of services are recoverable in an alienation of affections action, it is doubtful that the Idaho Court would follow the Johnson case again.

It has not been followed by any other court and has been rejected by the Oklahoma court.

The holding of the Johnson case to the effect that the mortality tables are inadmissible because it permits a presumption to be based upon a presumption is plainly wrong. As pointed out by the Oklahoma Supreme Court, exactly the same argument could be made to the admissibility of the tables in a wrongful death or personal injury action. As noted, Utah in a long line of decisions, has admitted the tables in wrongful death and personal injury actions.

As to defendant's claim that it was improper for plaintiff's counsel to argue the mortality tables to the jury, it should be noted first of all that during the argument defendant did not object to plaintiff's argument concerning the mortality tables. The only objection that was made was after the argument had been completed. Defendant did except, (R. 713, 714) to such argument by plaintiff, but did not object during the course of it. The cases cited by defendant to the effect that

such an argument may not be made are cases dealing with an argument concerning damages for pain, suffering and so forth on a per diem basis. Those cases have nothing to do with an argument involving the damages for loss of services.

*Wilson v. Oldroyd*, supra, holds that the husband, in an alienation of affections actions, may recover for permanent loss of services of his wife. There is no difference in permitting use of the mortality tables as an aid to the jury in estimating damages for loss of services in an alienation of affections action and a personal injury or death action. That such tables may be used under Utah law, see: *Mitchell v. Arrowhead Freight Lines, Ltd.*, 214 P. 2d 620, 117 U. 224.

#### POINT VIII

IF THE COST OF SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF'S WIFE IS AN OFFSET AT ALL, IT MAY ONLY BE OFFSET AGAINST THE \$2,500 THAT WAS AWARDED ON THE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR ALIENATION OF AFFECTIONS.

The trial court offset the cost of support against only the \$2,500 awarded for alienation of affections on the theory that the value of the duty to support could be best offset only against the value of lost services, and that, loss of services was, by the instruction, an element of damages in the cause of action for alienation of affections, but not an element of damages in the case of criminal conversation.

Instruction No. 12 (R. 126) states the measure of damages for criminal conversation and it should be noted

from that instruction that the jury was permitted to take into account only the shame and ridicule which the husband would be subjected to and the mental anguish and distress which he would necessarily suffer by reason of said illicit conduct on the part of the one who had relations with his wife. Instruction No. 13 which pertains to alienation of affections specifically states that in fixing the amount of plaintiff's damages for that cause of action the jury may take into account loss of companionship, aid, society and services of the wife. Defendant did not take exception in any way to the court's Instruction No. 12 which pertains to the measure of damage for criminal conversation. (R. 707-710). It should also be noted that defendant took the position at trial that the value of the husband's duty to support would be deductible from the value of the lost services. On page 708 of the record the defendant's counsel took exception to Instruction No. 13 and in so doing said,

“On the ground that the instruction does not charge the jury that they must take into account in determining the value of lost services, if any, the value of the husband's duty to support. It is defendant's contention that the law is that the measure of damages is the value of the lost services less the value of the husband's duty to support.”

If there was any error in the court refusing to permit the jury to consider loss of services in arriving at its award of damages for criminal conversation, that error has been waived by defendant's failure to take exception to Instrument No. 12 and furthermore that error was an error in favor of the defendant of which he may not

now complain. If anyone was prejudiced by not permitting the jury to consider loss of services on the cause of action for criminal conversation, it was the plaintiff, not the defendant.

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